FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/4/2020
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

98153-1

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

2020 FEB -4 AM 10:50

STATE OF WASHINGTON

BY NS
DEPUTY

ZBIGNIEW M. LASKOWSKI v. STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR
AND INDUSTRIES

THE SUPERIOR COURT OF WASHINGTON FOR THURSTON COUNTY

CAUSE NO. 16-2-03591-34

WASHINGTON STATE COURT OF APPEALS, D. II NO. 53064-3-II

THE SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON NO. 96147-6

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON

DEPARTMENT OF LABOR

AND INDUSTRIES, Respondent

V.

ZBIGNIEW M. LASKOWSKI, Petitioner Pro Se

PETITION FOR DESCRETIONARY REVIEW

ZBIGNIEW M. LASKOWSKI

PETITIONER, PRO SE

I. INTRODUCTION

Petitioner in this case became disable from industrial disease due to his claim-related medical conditions.

Petitioner requests review in this workers compensation case on appeal from the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals ("BIIA").

The issue in this case is calculation of time loss rate after reversed social security offset applied. DI 52120. 265 Washington (WA) Workers' Compensation (WC), RCW 51.32.220.

Establishing Petitioner's correct time loss rate is vital because sets the rate of disability compensation for the live of this claim and this claim's eligibility for annual cost of living adjustment (COLA).

In year 2015 Washington State Department of Labor and Industries reached settlement out of court with U.S. Department of Justice in none-English speaking injured workers complains demanding access to equal justice by providing translators in workers compensation claims.

The 2015 agreement, on a contrary, that Industrial Insurance Act ("IIA") passed in 1911 is a "great compromise" between employers and employee, omitted in its nature availability of legal advice or guidelines for blacklisted, under and unrepresented workers.

Farther, acknowledging that the injured worker's hitherto remedy had "been uncertain, slow and inadequate", the legislature provided for "sure and certain relief for workers, injured in their work, and their families and dependents regardless of questions of fault and to the exclusion of every other remedy, proceeding or compensation." RCW 51.04.010.

“[T]he guiding principle in construing provisions of the Industrial Insurance Act is that the Act is remedial in nature and is to be liberally construed in order to achieve its purpose of providing compensation to all covered employees injured in their employment, with doubts resolved in a favor of the worker.”
Dennis v. Dep’t of Labor & Indus., 109 Wn. 2d 467, 470, 745 P.2d 1295 (1987).

Unfortunately, that is not the case in Claim AB 17747. Thru the whole year 2006, right after opening this claim, employer, Air Van Lines, Inc. (official sponsor and carrier for Washington State Huskies) when keeping the Petitioner/Claimant on salary paid only 66% out of 100 % of time loss benefits. And to finish strong, at the beginning of year 2007 Air Van Lines, Inc. provided W-2 form leaving its employee/Petitioner/ Claimant, single without dependent, with only 33% of original wages. That was partially solved 6 years later in Thurston County Superior Court Case No. 13-2-02092-8 which added approximately \$16,000.00 to Petitioner’s wages.

14 years later with same malice the Court of Appeals of the State of Washington, Division II in its Unpublished Opinion dated January 07, 2020 in Zbigniew M. Laskowski v. Washington State Department of Labor and Industries omitted and misinterpreted *Frazier v. Dep’t of Labor and Industries*, RCW 51.32.220(4), RCW 51.32.075 and DI 52120.265 to unlawfully take advantage of disable worker compensation, adding to a misery *Birgen v. Dep’t of Labor and Industries* (2015).

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERRORS

NO.1 PAGE 2, LINE 4 "The Department....in 2010"

NO.2 PAGE 2-3, LINES 5-2 "In August 2009...through June 3. 2011"

NO.3 PAGE 3, LINES 8-11 "On remand, ...\$50,196.90 for 2006."

NO.4 PAGE 4, LINES 2-3 "Many of ...briefed."

NO.5 PAGE 4-5, LINES 12-8 "Our review ...the superior court."

NO.6 PAGE 5, LINES 9-11 "Laskowski's We disagree."

NO.7 PAGE 6-7, LINES 19-7 "But Laskowski ...,186 Wn. App.851,
859, 347 P.3d 503 (2015)."

NO.8 PAGE 7-8, LINES 8-4 "Laskowski also appears ...has occurred.
RCW 51.32.220(2)."

NO.10 PAGE 8, LINES 5-8 "Here, the Department ...argument
fails."

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERRORS

NO.1

Claim AB 17747 was not reopened until June 2011. After 13 months and failed IME examination, after intervention of Petitioner's attending physician Dr. Mark Wentworth, the claim was allowed for medical care and time loss benefits. Lump sum payment of time loss was paid to Laskowski with delay of the it for over one year. Three (3) different employees of the State of Washington Department of Labor and Industries signed off on it

to ensure correctness of the amount.

NO. 2

The overpayments in Washington State workers' compensation are governed also by properly issued notice of reduction.

RCW 51.32. 220(4).

In *Frazier v. Department of Labor and Industries* in part II. Notice Requirement for offset states as follow: "Because the dating and mailing of notice on May 31, 1994, was not sufficient to give notice that same date, the Board properly found that Frazier did not receive notice of the offset until June 1994 and, thus, the Department was not entitled to an offset in June 1994. But the notice that Frazier received in June 1994 was adequate to allow the Department to take an offset after that date, pursuant to RCW 51.32.220(4). *See Porter*, at 410, 3 P .3d 229. Thus, the Board properly allowed the Department to reduce any benefits it might pay to Frazier after July 1, 1994, by the amount of social security benefits he had received after December 1, 1993, the date the Department became entitled to take the offset under RCW 51.32.220(2). Consequently, the trail court did not err when it affirmed the Board's decision on this issue."

In part IV. Order of "overpayment" of *Frazier v. Department of labor and Industries* the order stipulates farther as follow: "The

facts here are distinguishable in that the Board based its decision upon interpretation of the same statutes at issue before the Department. The Department found that it could appropriately take the offset from the lump sum payment made in June 1994 pursuant to RCW 51.32.220 and .225. On appeal, the Board looked to these statutes to determine if such an offset could indeed, be made from the lump sum payment.

When the Board determined that Frazier could not have received the May 31, 1994, notice until some time in June, it concluded that the Department could not implement the offset until July 1, 1994, the month after the proper provision of notice, pursuant to RCW 51.32.220(4). The Board then observed that subsection (2) and (3) of this statute specifically provided for this circumstance. These subsections state that, in the event of an overpayment of benefits, the department (1) may only recover for overpayments for the previous six months, (2) must immediately *229 notify the claimant of the overpayment and the intent to recover it, and (3) must recover an overpayment from future benefits. RCW 51.32.220(2), (3).

In this case, *Zbigniew M. Laskowski v. Department of Labor and Industries*, the Department not only failed to recover the overpayment from the lump sum paid to Laskowski when

reopening claim in June 2011 (13 months after attending physician filed for opening of the Claim AB 17747), but allowed the time run for another six (6) months till November 2, 2011, to catch up with the provisions of statute RCW 51.32.220, giving notice accordingly, with RCW 51.32.220(4) on November 2, 2011 but not realizing at the same time that every and each time loss payment order issued, once every 14 days, of the time loss benefits in period between June 2, 2011 to December 1, 2011 reached and became final after 60 days, except last four (4) payments retroactively count from December 1, 2011. and of course, all payments after that which are not a part of this ruling. RCW 51.32.240, RCW 51.52.050, RCW 51.52.060.

NO. 3

Program Operations Manual System for DI 52120.265 Washington (WA) Workers Compensation (WC) in subsection 6. Cost-of-living adjustment (COLA), on pages 12-13 [*Exhibit 1*] provides specific historical data for COLA payments since 1990 when benefits are subject to Social Security offset. There is not prejudice in these instruction as to whom the Cost of Living Adjustment should be paid to support this Court suggested absence of COLA in Washington State Workers Compensation.

NO. 4

This court takes unusual pleasure to comment on the Petitioner being blacklisted by the State of Washington in the effort of hiring legal representation in Claim AB 17747, including but not limited that various courts have been petitioned for appointment of qualified attorney.

NO. 5

This Court maybe omit or didn't notice that Hon. James Dixon allowed himself to have ex-parte communication with AAG John Barnes, representing Dep't of Labor and Industries in this matter and then when issuing verbal order allowed himself to comment on it "I don't know nothing about this law". (*Please see verbatim report of proceedings in electronic version.*)

If these acts of ex-parte communication by professionals with legal background still makes the Department of Labor and Industries prevailing party in this matter, the Court of Appeals, Division II should make appropriate reference of existing laws supporting such behavior. (*unethical*)

NO. 6

This court owns to itself to familiarize yourself with Program Operations Manual for DI 51120.265 and stop revoking the obvious fraud in *Birgen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*

NO. 7

Demagogy should not be part of the laws this Court is quoting in defense of *Birgen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.* Previously Department of Labor and Industries in various writings introduced the same fraudulent assumption calling it "High Ace Figure". The Petitioner briefed the courts on the eligibility of this claim for COLA but this court decided to embrace fraud in *Birgen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*

Because RCW 51.32.220 and 42 U.S.C. Sec. 424(a) "controls the calculations of benefits for a claimant who also receives social security disability benefits", doesn't means prohibits them.

[Exhibit 2]

There is not language in these statues suggesting that COLA should be prohibited, other than this Court's attempt to rewrite them, what legislation shall do it as a designated government branch.

NO. 8

Please see explanation of issues pertaining to errors 1 & 2.

NO. 9

This Court to avoid clash of the laws with its own believes didn't quote even ones RCW 51.32.220(4) thru the entire opinion.

Significant and wonder "why".

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

These calculations of the Time Loss in Claim AB 17747:

50,196.90 x 80% = \$40,157.52 (80% OF ANNUAL AVAREGE
CURRENT EARNINGS-ACE)

\$40,157.52 / 12 MONTHS = \$3,346.46 (80% OF MONTHLY ACE)

\$3,346.46 - \$867 (SSD) = \$2,479.46 (MONTHLY ACE RATE AFTER
DEDUCTION OF SSD)

WASHINGTON STATE HISTORICAL C O L A (COST OF LIVING
ADJUSTMENT) DI 52120.265:

YEAR 2006	\$2,479.46	X	3.5%	=	\$86.78
	\$ 86.78				
2007	\$2,566.24	X	5.445%	=	\$139.73
	\$ 139.73				
2008	\$2,705.97	X	5.018%	=	\$135.79
	\$ 135.79				
2009	\$2,841.76	X	3.432%	=	\$97.53
	\$ 97.53				
2010	\$2,939.29	X	1.939%	=	\$56.99
	\$ 56.99				
2011	\$2,996.28	X	NONE COLA	=	\$0
2012	\$2,996.28	X	3.6%	=	\$107.87
	\$ 107.87				
2013	\$3,104.15	X	3.4%	=	\$105.54
	\$ 105.54				
2014	\$3,209.69	X	2.016%	=	\$64.71
	\$ 64.71				
2015	\$3,274.40	X	4.168%	=	\$136.48
	\$136.48				
2016	\$3,410.88				

The actual monthly Time Loss rate paid to the Petitioner after social security offset deduction began November was \$2,166.95.

JULY 1, 2011	\$3,134.10	TIME LOSS RATE ELIGIBILITY <i>BEFORE</i>
		SOCIAL SECURITY OFFSET
	- \$2,996.28	TIME LOSS RATE INTITELMENT <i>AFTER</i>
		SOCIAL SECURITY OFFSET
<hr/>		
	\$137.82	MONTHLY OVERPAYMENT ACCURED
AUGUST, 2011	\$137.82	
SEPTEMBER, 2011	\$137.82	
<hr/>		
OCTOBER, 2011	\$137.82	
NOVEMBER, 2011	+ \$137.82	
	(-) \$275.64	ACCORDING WITH RCW 51.32.240(b)
		IF CLERICAL ERROR ACCURES
		THE DEPARTMENT IS ONLY IN TITLE
		TO RECOVERY FROM ORDERS
		WHICH AREN'T FINAL YET (60 DAYS
		FORMULA APPLIES)

DECEMBER 01, 2011	\$2,996.28	
	- \$2,166.95	TIME LOSS RATE BASED ON A
		CALCULATION OF BENEFITS BEFORE
		THURSTON COUNTY SUPERIOR
		COURT DECISION; USED UTIL
		JANUARY 14, 2015

DECEMBER, 2011	\$829.33	
JANUARY 2012	\$829.33	
FEBRUARY 2012	\$829.33	
MARCH 2012	\$829.33	
APRIL 2012	\$829.33	
MAY 2012	\$829.33	
JUNE 2012	\$829.33	
	\$5,805.31	

JULY 1, 2012	\$3,104.15	
	- \$2,166.95	
<hr/>		
JULY 2012	\$937.20	
AUGUST 2012	\$937.20	
SEPTEMBER 2012	\$937.20	
OCTOBER 2012	\$937.20	
NOVEMBER 2012	\$937.20	

DECEMBER 2012	\$937.20
JANUARY 2013	\$937.20
FEBRUARY 2013	\$937.20
MARCH 2013	\$937.20
APRIL 2013	\$937.20
MAY 2013	\$937.20
JUNE 2013	\$937.20
<hr/>	
	\$11,246.40

JULY 01, 2013	\$3,209.69
	- \$2,166.95
<hr/>	
	\$1,042.74

JULY 2013	\$1,042.74
AUGUST 2013	\$1,042.74
SEPTEMBER 2013	\$1,042.74
OCTOBER 2013	\$1,042.74
NOVEMBER 2013	\$1,042.74
DECEMBER 2013	\$1,042.74
JANUARY 2014	\$1,042.74
FEBRUARY 2014	\$1,042.74
MARCH 2014	\$1,042.74
APRIL 2014	\$1,042.74
MAY 2014	\$1,042.74
JUNE 2014	\$1,042.74
<hr/>	
	\$12,512.88

JULY 01, 2014 –	
DEC. 31, 2014	\$3,209.69
	- \$2,166.95
<hr/>	
	\$1,042.74

JULY 2014	\$1,042.74
AUGUST 2014	\$1,042.74
SEPTEMBER 2014	\$1,042.74
OCTOBER 2014	\$1,042.74
NOVEMBER 2014	\$1,042.74
DECEMBER 2014	\$1,042.74
<hr/>	
	\$6,256.44

JAN 01, 2015 –	
JAN 14, 2015	\$1,108.75
<hr/>	
JAN 15, 2015 –	
JAN 28, 2015	\$1,256.36
<hr/>	

JAN 29, 2015 –		
APRIL 30, 2015	\$3,209.69	
	\$2,692.12	
		\$517.57
<hr/>		
FEBRUARY 2015	\$517.57	
MARCH 2015	\$517.57	
APRIL 2015	\$517.57	
		\$1,552.71
<hr/>		
MAY 1, 2015 –		
MAY 6, 2015	\$538.42	
<hr/>		
MAY 7, 2015 –		
MAY 11, 2015	\$448.70	
<hr/>		
DEC. 1, 2011 –		
JAN 14, 2015	\$3,803.48	AMOUNT WRONGLY DEDUCTED FROM TIME LOSS PAYMENTS/ \$100.00 PER MONTH

The Claim AB 17747 didn't reopen till May 31, 2011.

In this claim offset is effective one month after the first offset was calculated by the Department in Order dated November 02, 2011, not after the Department learns about it or kept on file. (Sec.224. [42 U.S.C. 424a] (7)), RCW 51.32.220(4).

The Highest Year of Earnings amount was fixed and set by the Thurston County Superior Court Judge Hon. Gary Tabor in the order dated November 21, 2014 to rise to \$50,196.90 from \$34,289.49. By adding disputed amount of \$15,907.41 monthly average current earning (ACE) rise from \$4,051.46 to \$4,183.07 ($\$50,196.90 / 12$ months = \$4,183.07)

The six months delay following the reopening of Claim AB 17747 on May 31, 2011 till November 02, 2011 it is a trap the Department set up for gain of ill profits in the amount of \$5,115.30. Department's wrong calculations are broader and reaching back to November 2011 and extending to present because new

calculations issued don't include cost of living adjustment (COLA). Claim AB 17747 was closed from April 2008 through May 31, 2011, therefore, no benefits were paid to the Laskowski.

RCW 51.32.220: "For person receiving compensation for temporary or permanent total disability pursuant of the provisions of this chapter, such compensation shall be reduced by an amount equal to the benefits payable under federal old-age, survivors, and disability insurance act as now or hereafter amended not to exceed the amount of the reduction established to 42 U.S.C. Sec. 424a." Sec. 224(7)(8) [42 U.S.C. 424a] instructs as follow:" the total of the benefits under section 223 and 202, after reduction under this section, with respect to all persons entitled to benefits on the basis of such individual's wages and self-employment income for such month which were determined for such individual and such persons for the first month for reduction under this section was made (or which would have been so determined if all of them had been so entitled in such first month), and"

The RCW 51.32.220(4) derived from 42 U.S.C. Sec. 424a 224(7)(8) explains date when actual reduction should take effect, which is different from the date when the Department of Labor and Industries received the information from Social Security and kept on file.

The law allows for first Triennial Determination to take place 3-years after offset was first determinate. In this case because the first offset calculation date was November 02, 2011, first Triennial Determination was due in November 2015.

Claim No. AB17747 wasn't eligible for Triennial Redetermination till

year 2015 when new COLA (cost of living adjustment) supposed to be added on July 01, 2015. For the first time the Time Loss rate would increase above accepted 'ceiling' in this claim set for \$3,346.46 (please see the calculations presented by the Petitioner). New calculation should always increase the rate of Time Loss, never decrease according to DI52150.080 and Social Security Act Sec. 224(f).

In accordance with RCW 51.32.240(b), if clerical error accrues the Department shall be only in title to recovery from orders which aren't final yet (60 days formula applies.)

Explanation that the department didn't know about it that the Petitioner was receiving Social Security Disability benefits since 2009 is another self-denial, consider that these facts were pointed several times to the case manager Ms. Suzette Slipper by the claimant, when petitioned for reopening of the claim in early 2010.

Recoupment of the \$3,800.00 of previously deducted by the Department from time loss payments to claimant should be credited back to him.

The Thurston County Superior Court Judge Hon. Gary Tabor accept and enter the Finding of Facts and Conclusions of Law and Judgment in Cause No. 13-2-02092-8 on November 21, 2014. In the follow up of Thurston County Superior Court Judgement Department of Labor and Industries issued Order on January 01, 2015 awarded Petitioner with higher Time Loss (TL) rate, in amount of \$2,479.46. This rate changed on February 17, 2015 to amount of \$2,692.12 per month without any explanation.

The Department did not present any calculations for the amount,

except suggestion that Triennial Redetermination took effect.

The Department Order dated May 08, 2015 was appealed to the Board of Industrial Insurance Appeals Docket No. 15 17652.

In this claim, there is no excuse for six months recoupment because law limits Department's jurisdiction to the orders which aren't final yet as provided in RCW 51.52.050 and RCW 51.52.060.

The table of ACE calculation placed above shows two sums which represent ACE figure.

COLA once applied became permanent factor of all calculations.

The Court shall take a note that the Department doesn't disputed prepared by the Laskowski calculations.

IV. ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals. Division II, Hon. Worswick wrote on page 7 of Unpublished Opinion dated January 7, 2020 for Court of Appeals of the State of Washington, Division II, Case No. 53064-3-II:

"These annual adjustments are referred to as COLA's. However, under RCW 51.32.220, 42 U.S.C. § 424(a) controls the calculation of benefits for a claimant who also receives social security disability benefits. And under 42 U.S.C. § 424(a), Laskowski's offset was calculated using his 80%-of-ACE figure and not by using his time loss compensation rate. This is because the 80%-of-ACE figure was higher than the time loss compensation rate.⁴ 42 U.S.C. § 424(a) does not provide for present value adjustment to an ACE figure.⁵ *Birgen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 186 Wn. App. 851, 859, 347 P.3d 503 (2015)."

On the page '5' line 17 of Proposed Decision and Order ALJ Brian

Watkins wrote: "Mr. Laskowski is bewildered that since the state gave COLAs to worker's compensation recipients in July 2010, July 2012, July 2013, July 2014, why the Department didn't increase his offset time-loss rate each year as each COLA occurred. But the evidence establishes that at no time in 2010, 2012, 2013, 2014, Mr. Laskowski time-loss compensation didn't exceed his 80%-of-ACE figure."

Farther on the same page the Board's ALJ Brian Watkins continued "As an evidence by Mr. Laskowski's own calculation, his pre-offset time-loss compensation rates didn't surpass his 80%-of-ACE figure until the 2015 cost of living adjustment."

These two above statements, first by Hon. Worswick, then second by ALJ Watkins, contradict each other. The only common characteristics for both of them is fraud.

Similar statements are part of the illegal hoax which AAG John Barnes used as well. That was the reason why Petitioner asked the Board to take sworn testimony from John Barnes, AAG.

Steve Vinyard, AAG and John Barnes, AAG are same two lawyers who represented Department of Labor and Industries for Washington State Court of Appeals, Division II in Birgen v. Dep't of Labor and Industries (2015) which is driven by fraud also and shall be reversed.

The argument narrows to four elements:

1. The date of the first calculation on November 02, 2011 authorized by 42U.S.C. 424a (7)(8), RCW 51.32.225(2) and RCW 51.32.220(4), not September 01, 2009, to assure

compliance.

2. Abolishment of RCW 51.32.240(b).
3. The Court shall use calculation of benefits presented by Laskowski in the absence of the alternative calculations by the Department.

V. CONCLUSION

The Department's orders of November 02, 2011, February 17, 2012 and May 08, 2015 are incorrect and shall be reversed.