FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
4/1/2020 2:45 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

NO. 98153-1

# SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

ZBIGNIEW M. LASKOWSKI,

Appellant,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES,

Respondent.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW, DEPARTMENT OF LABOR AND INDUSTRIES

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE VINYARD Assistant Attorney General WSBA #29737 Office Id. #91022 Office of the Attorney General Labor and Industries Division 7141 Cleanwater Drive SW P.O. Box 40121 Olympia, WA 98504-0121 (360) 586-7715

#

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

### IV. ARGUMENT

Laskowski shows no reason for review; indeed, he cited none of the RAP 13.4(b) factors and none of them supports review. This case involves substantial evidence review and statutory construction principles, which were properly applied by the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals properly affirmed the superior court.

Laskowski shows no conflict with case law or an issue of substantial public interest. This Court should deny the petition for review.

A. There Is No Reason To Review the Department's Application of COLAs To the Social Security Offset Calculation: The Department Properly Rejected Using Laskowski's Proposed Formula, Which Would Have Led To Less Benefits

Laskowski does not show that the Department's application of COLAs to his social security offset either conflicts with case law or presents an issue of substantial public interest. *See* RAP 13.4(b). And even considering the merits, there is no error. Laskowski's primary claim is that the Department did not properly consider COLAs in calculating his offset. Pet. 8, 10. But there is no error because under the step-by-step calculations of his offset, consideration of the COLAs does not lead to a higher benefit amount. In fact, using Laskowski's proposed approach would lead to less benefits.

RCW 51.32.220 provides that "a claimant's workers' compensation disability benefits must be reduced by the amount that person receives in Social Security benefits or by an amount calculated under 42 U.S.C. § 424a(a), whichever" causes a lower reduction. *Birgen v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 186 Wn. App. 851, 856, 347 P.3d 503 (2015).<sup>3</sup> 42 U.S.C. § 424a(a) "provides that the amount of the offset is the amount by which a person's combined monthly disability and social security benefits exceed eighty percent of that person's 'average current earnings'" (ACE). *Birgen*, 186 Wn. App. at 856. Thus, under federal law the offset

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Although Laskowski cites liberal construction standards, in considering an offset issue this Court in *Harris v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, 120 Wn.2d 461, 474, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993), declined to do so because the offset statute at issue was unambiguous.

cannot reduce a person's combined monthly payment below eighty percent of the ACE.

42 U.S.C. § 424a(a)(8) defines "average current earnings" as the largest of three amounts, which typically is one-twelfth of the person's highest annual earnings within either the year the person became disabled related to the Social Security Act or any of the preceding five years.

Birgen, 186 Wn. App. at 857. In Laskowski's case, the highest yearly wage he ever earned was earned in 2006, which was within five years of the date he became disabled (2009).

Substantial evidence supports each of the Department's calculations about Laskowski. First, as the Department's witness explained, the Department found that Laskowski earned \$50,196.90 in 2006—an amount that includes the additional wages that the superior court ordered the Department to include—which leads to an ACE of \$4,183.08. AR 43–46, 57. Eighty percent of that amount is \$3,346.46. And Laskowski appears to agree that his ACE should be calculated based on a yearly wage of \$50,196.90. *See* Pet. 11.

Next, the Department found that as of September 2009,

Laskowski's time-loss compensation rate before the offset was \$2,976.25.

AR 58. A Department employee testified to this being the rate in effect as

of September 2009, so substantial evidence supports this finding. *See* AR 58. And Laskowski does not show otherwise.

Last, the Department found that as of September 2009,
Laskowski's social security benefit rate was \$867. AR 58. This finding is
also supported by substantial evidence as a Department employee testified
to this amount. AR 58. And again, Laskowski does not show otherwise.

Since eighty percent of Laskowski's ACE figure (\$3,346.46) is higher than Laskowski's time-loss compensation rate (\$2,976.25), the Department calculates the offset by subtracting the social security benefit rate (\$867) from eighty percent of the ACE (\$3,346.46), which leads to a time-loss compensation rate after the offset of \$2,479.46. *See* RCW 51.32.220; 42 U.S.C. § 424a(a)(2)–(6).

Laskowski argues that the Department did not properly take into account his cost of living adjustments when calculating his offset.

Pet. 17–19. But calculating his offset based on his time-loss compensation rate would not aid him, even taking the COLAs into account.

RCW 51.32.075 provides for yearly adjustments to a worker's time-loss compensation rate effective July 1 of each year, based on the annual change to the average monthly wage in the state. While RCW 51.32.075

RCW 51.32.220 requires the Department to offset the worker's time-loss

provides for cost of living adjustments to the time-loss compensation rate,

compensation based on the duplicative receipt of social security benefits, using the formula in 42 U.S.C. § 424a.

Under the federal statute, the offset amount depends on the time-loss compensation rate, the social security benefits, and eighty percent of the worker's average current earnings. Contrary to Laskowski's suggestion, the Department did take the COLAs into account, but the COLAs did not change the offset because Laskowski's ACE figure was still much higher than his time-loss compensation rate even *after* taking the COLAs into account. Since eighty percent of the ACE continued to exceed all of the other figures, it continued to drive the social security offset calculation, which meant that the COLAs did not cause an increase to Laskowski's time-loss rate after the offset. AR Richardson 68. While Laskowski disagrees with this result (Pet. 8, 10), it reflects the law and is amply supported by the facts. Laskowski shows no legal error, no issue of substantial public interest, and no conflict with the case law.

B. There Is No Need To Review Whether, Consistent with the Statutory Requirement To Give Notice of the Offset One Month Before It Reduces the Worker's Benefits, the Department Gave Adequate Notice of the Offset, as Substantial Evidence Shows That It Did

There is no merit to Laskowski's claim he did not receive adequate notice of the offset. RCW 51.32.220(2) provides that the Department must notify a worker before it assesses an overpayment based on that statute.

And RCW 51.32.220(4) provides that the Department must give the worker notice of an offset in the month prior to the month that it reduces the worker's benefits. The Department notified Laskowski that it would reduce his benefits and assess an overpayment in November 2011.

AR 37–38. The Department reduced the benefits and assessed an offset in December 2011. AR 39–40.

Laskowski relies on *Frazier v. Dep't of Labor & Indus.*, to argue there was inadequate notice. Pet. 6–8. But this case aids the Department, not Laskowski. In *Frazier*, the Department mailed notice to the worker that it would reduce the worker's benefits based on the receipt of social security benefits on May 31, 1994, but the worker did not receive the notice until June 1994. *Frazier*, 101 Wn. App. at 421. The *Frazier* Court concluded that this meant that the Department could not offset benefits until July 1, 1994, the month after the worker actually received notice of the offset. *Id*.

Here, consistent with *Frazier*, the Department provided Laskowski with notice that it would reduce his benefits on November 2, 2011, and it issued an order reducing his benefits on December 1, 2011. AR 39–40. The Department's actions were thus consistent with the plain language of the statute and with *Frazier*.

Laskowski also suggests that the Department had to give him notice of the offset before each of the time-loss payments, which are issued every two weeks. *See* Pet. at 8. This argument lacks merit: the Department must give a worker notice before it imposes a social security offset, but neither RCW 51.32.220 nor any other legal authority requires it to give notice before issuing each and every payment of benefits. And in *Frazier* the Department only gave the worker notice of the offset *once*, which the Court concluded allowed the Department to reduce each of his future payments once the worker had received proper notice. *Frazier*, 101 Wn. App. at 421. Since the Department gave Laskowski notice on November 2, 2011, it properly reduced his benefits on December 1, 2011, and the Department properly reduced all of the time-loss compensation payments after that.

## V. CONCLUSION

Laskowski shows no reason under RAP 13.4(b) for this Court to take review. Substantial evidence supports both that the Department properly calculated the wage rate, properly considering whether the COLAs would increase his benefit, and properly gave notice. This Court should deny review.